2005

# Louise Mann v. Samuel P. Fredrickson, Riddle Services, Inc., and Does 1 through 10 Inclusive : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(2)(j).

**ISSUES, STANDARD OF REVIEW, PRESERVATION**

Issue I: Whether the trial court erred in failing to grant the plaintiff's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict due to insufficiency of the evidence.

Standard of Review: An insufficiency of the evidence challenge to a denial of a motion for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict or a motion for a new trial is governed by one standard of review: An appellate court will reverse only if,

viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the party who prevailed, it concludes that the evidence is insufficient to support the verdict. *Hansen v. Stewart*, 761 P.2d 14 (Utah 1988).

Preservation: Appellant now appeals the decision of the trial court, which denied the Appellant's motion for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict at the conclusion of the trial.

Issue II: Whether the trial court erred in denying plaintiff's motion for a new trial based upon the insufficiency of the evidence supporting the apportionment of 100% of the liability to the Plaintiff.

Standard of Review: An insufficiency of the evidence challenge to a denial of a motion for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict or a motion for a new trial is governed by one standard of review: The appellate court will reverse only if, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the party who prevailed, it concludes that the evidence is insufficient to support the verdict. *Hansen v. Stewart*, 761 P.2d 14 (Utah 1988).

Preservation: Appellant now appeals the decision of the trial court, denying the Appellant's motion for a new trial, challenging the reasonableness of the verdict apportioning 100% of the liability to the Plaintiff.

ISSUE III: Whether the trial court erred in denying plaintiff's motion for a new trial on grounds that Jury Instruction No. 28 was improperly given, as it was confusing, misleading and was not supported by sufficient evidence to serve as defendants' theory of the case.

STANDARD OF REVIEW: An appellate court review's "the trial court's determination concerning jury instructions for correctness, and accord[s] it no particular deference." *State v. Jones*, 878 P.2d 1175, 1176 (Utah Ct.App. 1994).

PRESERVATION: Appellant made a timely and sufficient objection to Jury Instruction No. 28 at trial, and presented this issue to the trial court in her motion for a new trial.

### **STATUTORY PROVISIONS**

Utah Code Annotated § 41-6-69(2) (2002).

Utah Code Annotated § 41-6-62(1) (2002).

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This case arises as a result of a motor vehicle accident occurring on or about November 1, 2002, where a furniture truck being driven by Appellee Fredrickson and owned by Appellee Riddle Services, Inc., struck Appellant's vehicle from behind. Following the accident, Plaintiff/Appellant Louise Mann filed a complaint against Samuel P. Fredrickson, Riddle Services, Inc., and Does 1 through 10 inclusive, alleging negligence and personal injuries.

On June 6, 2005, a jury trial commenced in this matter in the Third Judicial District Court, before the Honorable Robert W. Adkins. At the conclusion of the trial, on June 10, 2005, the jury returned a verdict finding the Plaintiff/Appellant Louise Mann 100% at fault, and accordingly finding Defendants/Appellees entirely free from any liability. Plaintiff's counsel moved for a judgment



notwithstanding the verdict on the basis of insufficiency of the evidence, which the Trial Court denied.

After the trial on this matter, the Honorable Robert W. Adkins was reassigned to a different court within the Third Judicial District, and the Honorable Deno Himonas presided over the post-trial proceedings. Following the entering of the judgment below, the Plaintiff/Appellant filed a timely motion for a new trial on the grounds that there was insufficient evidence to support the verdict and improper jury instructions. Plaintiff/Appellant's motion was heard and decided by the Honorable Deno Himonas, who denied the motion, relying on two partial statements and inconsistent facts viewed in isolation as the sole support for His ruling.

Following the denial of the motion for a new trial, the Plaintiff/Appellant filed a timely notice for appeal and the matter was assigned to this Court. Plaintiff/Appellant challenges the lower court's denial of her motions both for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict and for a new trial on the basis that the verdict was entirely inconsistent with the evidence and on grounds that the jury was improperly instructed. The Appellant petitions this Court for relief, and requests the Court to reverse the rulings of the district court and remand for a new trial.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The trial in this matter was a five-day proceeding with numerous medical experts testifying with regard to injuries and the potential causation of said

injuries; these complex issues were not ultimately reached as the case was decided on grounds of liability alone, 100% being assigned to the Appellant. The issues before the Court on this appeal involve the determination of liability returned by the jury. The following is a recitation of the facts relevant to liability.

The motor vehicle accident, which is the subject of this case, occurred on or about November 1, 2002, in Salt Lake County, Utah, on Redwood Road at approximately 9500 South in a construction zone. Partial Trial Transcript June 7, 8, & 9, 2005 (“Transcript I”) at p. 17; Partial Trial Transcript June 9, 2005 (“Transcript II”) at p. 14.

According to the Appellant, Ms. Mann, the subject accident occurred while she was driving through the construction zone on Redwood Road. Appellant stated that she saw a flagger who instructed her to stop, so she stopped. Transcript I at p. 18. Ms. Mann testified that she made a normal stop, and had stopped for ten or fifteen seconds before Mr. Fredrickson’s vehicle struck her from behind. Transcript I at p. 19.

According to the Appellee, Mr. Fredrickson, the subject accident occurred while both parties were driving through the construction zone on Redwood Road. Mr. Fredrickson stated that he followed the Appellant’s vehicle for a short time, and she suddenly stopped in the middle of the road, and he didn’t have enough time to stop. Transcript II at p. 16. Appellee stated that although he tried to stop, his truck started to fishtail, and he actually collided with the back of Appellant’s car at an angle. Id. Mr. Fredrickson stated that he saw no reason why the

Appellant would stop, but later acknowledged seeing a flagger standing approximately 20 feet from the scene of the accident. Transcript II at pp. 17, 19, 27.

Officer Matt Brown, the responding officer on the scene the day of the accident offered testimony at the trial. Officer Brown stated that according to his report of the accident, Mr. Fredrickson's vehicle was traveling too close and too fast and wasn't able to stop in time, and acknowledged the presence of a flagger on the scene. Transcript I at p. 35.

Ms. Mann claimed to have suffered severe physical injuries as a result of the subject accident, ultimately requiring extensive back surgery. As a result of the accident and her injuries, Ms. Mann filed the underlying action against the Appellees.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and her motion for a new trial as there was no evidence to support the finding that Ms. Mann had any liability for the accident much less 100% of the liability as concluded by the jury. The trial court erred in its reliance upon partial unrelated and contradictory facts as the sole basis for denying Appellant's motion for a new trial. In addition, the trial court erred in the giving of Jury Instruction No. 28, as it was confusing and misleading to the jury, and was not supported by sufficient evidence.

## **DISCUSSION**

### **I. THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT TRIAL WAS INSUFFICIENT AND IS INCONSISTENT WITH THE JURY'S VERDICT**

The record below is free from any evidence that would support a verdict apportioning 100% of the liability of the subject accident to the Appellant. The verdict rendered by the jury was entirely inconsistent with the law and with the evidence presented at trial, and the decisions of the trial court should accordingly be reversed.

When considering a trial court's denial of a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, or for a new trial, an appellate court will "reverse [the trial court's decision] only if, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party, the evidence is insufficient to support the verdict."

*Crookston v. Fire Ins. Exchange*, 817 P.2d 789, 799 (Utah 1991). To demonstrate that the evidence is insufficient to support the jury verdict, the party challenging the verdict must marshal the evidence in support of the verdict and then demonstrate that the evidence is insufficient when viewed in the light most favorable to the verdict. *Crookston* 817 P.2d at 799.

To demonstrate the lack of evidence presented at trial in support of the jury's verdict finding the Appellant 100% at fault for the subject accident, the relevant facts, marshaled in favor of the verdict, are as follows:

- a. All parties testified that the accident occurred in a construction zone.

Transcript I at 17, Transcript II at 14.

b. Appellant could not give an estimate of the impact speed of the accident.

Transcript I at 74.

c. Appellant testified that there was a flagger on the road who instructed her to stop, so she stopped. Transcript I at p. 18.

d. Appellant testified that she made a normal stop, and was stopped for ten to fifteen seconds before her vehicle was struck from behind by the truck driven by Mr. Fredrickson. Transcript I at p. 19.

e. Appellee Fredrickson testified that the accident occurred in a construction zone. Transcript II at p. 14.

f. Appellee Fredrickson testified that he followed the Appellant's vehicle for a short period of time, and she suddenly stopped in the middle of the road, and he didn't have enough time to stop – he tried to stop, slammed on his brakes, but his truck began to fishtail and he struck the back of the Appellant's car at an angle. Transcript II at p.15.

g. Appellee Fredrickson's statement at the scene of the accident stated, "Following car, I noticed she stopped quickly, not enough time for our big truck to stop." Transcript II at p. 17.

h. Appellee Fredrickson testified that at the time of the accident he was very surprised that Appellant stopped suddenly, and he didn't see any reason why she should have. Id.

i. Appellee Fredrickson testified that after the accident, once he got out of the truck, he first noticed a flagger standing approximately twenty feet from the scene of the accident. Transcript II at p. 19.

j. Excerpts of Appellee Fredrickson's deposition were read and discussed. Appellee explained that he had testified that "there was nothing [Ms. Mann] could have done to avoid the accident" because he was assuming there was confusion on the part of the flagger, as he didn't see any reason why she would have had to stop suddenly. Transcript II at p.33.

k. Officer Matt Brown was the responding officer who performed the investigation on the scene of the accident, and testified that the accident occurred in the middle of the road. Transcript I at pp. 34, 41.

l. Officer Brown's report stated that Appellee Fredrickson's vehicle was traveling too close and too fast and wasn't able to stop in time. Transcript I at p. 35.

m. Officer Brown testified that according to his recollection there was no involvement of a flagger other than requesting vehicles to stop. Id.

n. The court took judicial notice of Utah Code Ann. § 41-6-69(2), a statute which Officer Brown was unaware of, which concerns sudden stops. Transcript I at 43.

**1. The trial court erred in denying Appellant's post-trial motions for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and for a new trial.**

Utah courts have held that “[i]n most cases where one car “rear-ends” another, it accords with common sense and experience to believe that the following car has disregarded the duty to keep a lookout ahead and to keep the car under control, and is, therefore, at fault.” *Anderson v. Sharp*, 899 P.2d 1245, 1247 (Utah App. 1995). While under Utah law there is no formal “rear-end presumption” as in other jurisdictions<sup>1</sup>, *Anderson* indicates that Utah recognizes a common sense “rear-end presumption” of negligence. This notion arises from a duty codified under Utah Code Ann. §41-6-62(1) (2002), which provides:

- “(1) The operator of a vehicle:
  - (a) may not follow another vehicle more closely than is reasonable and prudent, having regard for the:
    - (i) speed of the vehicles;
    - (ii) traffic upon the highway; and
    - (iii) condition of the highway; and
  - (b) shall allow sufficient space in front of the vehicle to enable any other vehicle to enter and occupy the space.”

As discussed above, the application of this statute to a rear-end collision creates a rebuttable common-sense presumption that the driver of the following

---

<sup>1</sup> Other states interpret their statutes requiring a following driver to maintain a proper lookout as creating a rebuttable presumption of negligence to the following driver in a rear-end collision. Some of these states include Florida, Louisiana, New York, Massachusetts, Michigan, Rhode Island, Colorado. *See generally* *Cleaveland v. Florida Power and Light, Inc.*, 895 So.2d 1143 (Fla. App. 4 Dist. 2005); *Charrier v. Primm*, 909 So.2d 1033 (La. App. 2 Cir. 2005); *Russ v. Investech Sec.*, 6 A.D.3d 602, 775 N.Y.S. 2d 867 (N.Y.A.D. 2004); *DiLoreto v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co.*, 383 Mass. 243, 418 N.E.2d 612 (Mass. 1981); *Reed v. Breton*, 264 Mich. App. 363, 691 N.W.2d 779 (Mich. App. 2004); *Plourde v. Myers*, 823 A.2d 1138 (R.I. 2003); *Bettner v. Boring*, 764 P.2d 829 (Colo. 1988).

vehicle violated the duty created by §41-6-62(1). This “common sense presumption” can be overcome; however, a verdict related to liability that is entirely adverse to the leading car and attributes *no* negligence to the following car *must be supported by sufficient evidence*. A jury’s disregard of this common-sense notion, and allocation of 100% of the fault in a rear-end accident to the leading driver would accordingly require a substantial amount of objective evidence indicating wrongdoing on the part of the leading driver or completely exonerating the following driver.

The Utah Supreme Court has considered a case with similar facts as the present case. In *King v. Fereday*, 739 P.2d 618 (Utah 1987), the plaintiff and defendant were involved in a low speed rear end collision. *King* 739 P.2d at 620. At trial the jury in *King* rendered a verdict for the defendant (following car) and the plaintiff brought a motion for a new trial, which was denied by the trial court and upheld by the Supreme Court. The reasoning for sustaining the verdict in *King* was the existence of specific evidence in favor of the verdict. The Supreme Court pointed to detailed evidence that supported the verdict for the defense. First, the plaintiff in *King* testified that the impact was not significant enough to move her vehicle. *Id.* In addition, plaintiff testified that she abruptly “hit her brakes to avoid hitting the car in front of her” and that she had told the investigating officer not to give the defendant a citation because the traffic was so bad that “we could have all hit each other.” *King* at 621. The facts in *King* set forth at least some basis for justifying a verdict in favor of the defendant, as even



the plaintiff in that matter presented objective facts which could reasonably tend to exonerate the defendant.

In the instant case, there was no evidence presented which would demonstrate the required substantial wrongdoing on the part of Ms. Mann as indicated by the jury; and further, there was no evidence that would completely exonerate Mr. Fredrickson – to the contrary, Mr. Fredrickson’s own testimony clearly indicates that he had some degree of fault in causing the accident. Mr. Fredrickson testified to the following objective facts indicating he had a significant degree of liability in causing the accident:

- a. There was “nothing [Ms. Mann] could have done to avoid the accident.

Transcript II at pp. 31, 33.

- b. [Ms. Mann] stopped quickly, not enough time to stop my big truck.

Transcript II at p. 17.

- c. Mr. Fredrickson testified that after seeing Appellant stop suddenly, *he* slammed on his brakes, causing his truck to fishtail, ultimately striking her vehicle. Transcript II at p. 16.

- d. Mr. Fredrickson did not see the flagger controlling traffic until after the accident occurred, and he had exited his vehicle. Transcript II at pp. 19, 27.

- e. Mr. Fredrickson testified that he didn’t see any reason why Ms. Mann would have stopped her vehicle. Transcript II at pp. 17, 33.

Adopting Mr. Fredrickson’s version of the facts as true, there remains absolutely no evidence that would reasonably point to the Appellant as being

100% negligent, as apportioned by the jury, and likewise *no* evidence to justify a conclusion of zero negligence by the jury with respect to Mr. Fredrickson. His testimony establishing that he “did not have enough time to stop his big truck” coupled with his agreement that there was “nothing [the Appellant] could have done to avoid the accident” demonstrate that a verdict apportioning zero liability to the Appellee is unreasonable and unjust.

In support of his allegations of Ms. Mann’s negligence, Mr. Fredrickson pointed to his contention that the plaintiff negligently slammed on her brakes, not giving him enough time to stop his truck. In furtherance of this contention he caused the court to take judicial notice of Utah Code Annotated § 41-6-69(2), which states:

“A person may not stop or suddenly decrease the speed of a vehicle without first giving an appropriate signal to the operator of any vehicle immediately to the rear *when there is an opportunity to give a signal.*” (emphasis added).

Even construed liberally, this statute does not create a generalized duty for drivers to not “stop suddenly” as asserted below by the Appellees; and this statute certainly does not diminish the general duty of following drivers to maintain a proper lookout and allow enough distance to safely control their vehicle. Specifically, what this statute *does* do is to create a limited duty applicable in limited circumstances. According to the actual language of the statute, a leading vehicle, when coming to a stop, has a duty to signal a following vehicle *only when there is an opportunity to give a signal*. The verdict rendered by the jury, finding Ms. Mann entirely at fault, reflects a negligent violation of this duty Ms. Mann

presumably owed to the defendant, a contention wholly unsupported by the evidence.

The defendant introduced absolutely no evidence at trial about the opportunity, if any, Ms. Mann had to give an appropriate signal, but only that she stopped too quickly to give him enough time to stop his big furniture truck. Not only was there no evidence offered to support Ms. Mann's failure to give a signal, but Mr. Fredrickson's own testimony conflicted with this assertion, as he agreed that "there was nothing Ms. Mann could have done to have avoided the accident." Transcript II at pp. 31, 33.

Even construing the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict, there is insufficient evidentiary basis for the finding of any negligence on the part of Ms. Mann, much less the 100% represented by the verdict. In fact, the evidence presented at trial was completely contrary to the verdict rendered by the jury. The inconsistent verdict is plainly unreasonable and contrary to justice. The verdict is the result of the jury's disregard and misapplication of facts in evidence and the consideration of unknown facts or assertions, which were outside the evidence presented at trial. As such, the court should reverse the determination of the district court and order a new trial based on the grounds discussed herein.

**2. The trial court erred in relying on partial, remote and inconsistent facts considered in isolation as the sole basis for upholding the verdict.**

In making the ruling below, the trial court combined portions of contradicting testimony given by the opposing parties, and used excerpts of each

to uphold the verdict. As set forth above, Ms. Mann claimed to have entered the construction zone, to have seen the flagger, and to have slowed to a controlled stop where she sat for 10-15 seconds before being struck by Mr. Fredrickson's vehicle. Mr. Fredrickson testified that he did not see the flagger until after the accident, but that the accident occurred because Ms. Mann slammed on her brakes for some unknown reason, not allowing him enough time to stop his vehicle.

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