2005

Louise Mann v. Samuel P. Fredrickson, Riddle  
Services Inc., and Does 1 through 10 inclusive :  
Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

---

<sup>5</sup>Mann previously incorrectly cited this case in her Motion for New trial, which was pointed out to Mann in Appellees' reply brief. (R. at 410, 459-460.)

This instruction was never objected to by Mann and is a proper statement of the law indicating that there is no presumption of negligence. (See Instruction 33, Addendum C; MUJI No. 3.3.) There is no such law as a “common sense rear-end presumption.”

It has long been held that Utah Code Ann. § 41-6-62(a) does not create any presumption nor does it compel a jury to conclude negligence of the car to the rear as such a determination of a question of fact for the jury.

The statute’s language itself espouses the reasonable, prudent man doctrine, and in truth invites and demands that some arbiter of the facts determine whether speed, traffic or road conditions were such as to adjudge one as being reasonable or unreasonable, – or, in other words, negligent or non-negligent in a compensable sense. The statute gives no controlling, mathematical formula to test the outcome, but leaves it to the judiciary and/or the venire under its terms to establish the fault of the person involved, or the lack of it.

Fairbourn v. Lloyd, 440 P.2d 257, 258 (Utah 1968).

In Maltby v. Cox Construction, 598 P.2d 336 (Utah 1979), a rear-end accident occurred where the defendant’s truck loaded with 80,000 pounds of sand and traveling at approximately 45 miles per hour could not stop in time to avoid plaintiff in the lead car that was slowing down on the freeway. Defendant braked, switched gears, and swerved to try and avoid the accident but still rear-ended plaintiff. Id. at 338.

At trial, the plaintiff requested an instruction that a rear-end accident “furnishes some evidence that such defendant driver was either driving at too high a rate of speed or was following too closely.” Id. at 340.

The Utah Supreme Court held that there could be no instruction that assumes negligence in a rear-end collision.

This requested instruction is tantamount to an instruction that rear-end collisions are invariably the result of the negligence of the driver of the following vehicle. The instruction was properly refused. The Court properly instructed the jury as to the duties and responsibilities of each of these parties to keep a proper lookout, to keep their respective vehicles under proper control, and to use such care as a reasonable prudent person would use under the circumstances. The jury was persuaded that Pritchard's actions were reasonable under these circumstances, and that plaintiff's were not. As there is substantial credible evidence on which to base these findings, the jury's verdict will not be disturbed.

Maltby, supra., at 340.

Mann also argues that there could be no finding that she was 100 percent at fault. This ignores that the conflicting facts regarding how Mann stopped were mutually exclusive. Mann could not have both stopped suddenly and come to a normal gradual stop. The jury decided that Mann stopped suddenly and inappropriately and was therefore at fault. The jury also decided that Fredrickson was attentive and did everything he could to stop his vehicle but was unable to do so and was therefore not negligent.

However, even in Maltby, in a rear-end accident where 100 percent negligence was found in the lead car, the court stated that even if "some" negligence on defendant could be found it did not compel overturning the verdict.

Further, a finding of *some* negligence on the part of Kimball based on the violation of this statute would not be helpful to plaintiff, for, pursuant to our comparative negligence statute, the jury must find that she was more than 50 percent negligence, or plaintiff cannot recover.

Id. at 340 (italics in original).

In King v. Feraday, 739 P.2d 618 (Utah 1987), another case cited by Mann, the trial court held in a rear-end accident that there was in fact sufficient evidence to justify the verdict in favor of Defendants to relieve them of all (i.e., 100 percent) liability. The court in King cited McCloud v. Bond, 569 P.2d 1125, 1127 (Utah 1977), indicating that “a collision alone does not create an inference of negligence.” Id. at 1127-28.

In King, the court held:

In viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the defendant, we find that the record contains substantial evidence to support the jury verdict. The evidence indicated that the traffic stopped suddenly and the plaintiff hit her brakes to avoid colliding with the car in front of her.

Id.

In the present case, the facts are even stronger in that Mann never claimed any justification for why she stopped suddenly and slammed on her brakes. In fact, she denied such making a sudden stop.<sup>6</sup>

There is no justification provided for the sudden stop made by Mann and the jury had the right to make that determination based on the evidence.

The evidence at trial was conflicting on how the accident occurred. It is clear that the jury did not believe that Mann had been stopped 10 or 15 seconds at the time of the accident but that Mann made an unjustified sudden stop without sufficient warning. Furthermore, Mann

---

<sup>6</sup>Mann removed any possibility of justification for the sudden stop by claiming that the flagger did nothing improper. After successfully removing any reason for a sudden stop, Mann is simply left with no reason to explain why she stopped suddenly, especially since she denied making such a stop.

was not paying attention to traffic behind her even though she was traveling very slowly in a 45 mile per hour zone. Mann had a duty to watch and because of traffic from behind if she was going to make a stop in the middle of the road. See Jury Instructions. (R. 357; 367.) Mann's credibility was shown to be lacking and the jury decided she made an unjustified stop and was not even aware of the traffic around her.<sup>7</sup>

Holland v. Brown, 394 P.2d 77 (Utah 1964), stands for the proposition that as far as credibility is concerned, where there is any reasonable basis for refusing to believe a witness the jury is not obliged to accept the testimony. There was sufficient reason for the jury to find a lack of credibility on the part of Mann. The jury was properly instructed that they could disregard Mann's testimony if they found her to be untruthful. (R. 341-343.)

In the present case, viewed in a light most favorable to the Defendants, Mann turned right on Redwood Road going approximately 10 to 15 miles per hour and was followed by a line of cars including Fredrickson. For no apparent reason Mann made a sudden stop without warning which surprised Fredrickson. (See Exhibit Trial 11 and Addendum A.) He slammed on his brakes and attempted to avoid the collision but was unable to do so. Clearly the

---

<sup>7</sup>As stated above, there is evidence that Mann had obtained a narcotic medication, Roxicet, the day before the accident. The jury certainly could have believed she was also under the influence at the time of the collision, although such conclusion is not necessary to upholding the verdict. (R. 573, p. 83, lines 11-25; p. 84-85.) Mann denied any knowledge of the medication and gave evasive answers. (R. 573, p. 81, lines 2-25; p. 82, lines 1-25; p. 83, lines 1-2).

evidence was sufficient to find Mann negligent and also find that Fredrickson did all he could given the circumstances and was therefore not negligent.

The potential of a rear-end accident is the major purpose for having a law that prevents a sudden stop without a proper signal to the rear vehicle. Mann was entirely unaware of the traffic behind her before she made her unwarranted sudden stop. Mann created an emergency situation by her sudden stop. Fredrickson did all he could do to stop as soon as the emergency situation presented itself. (R. 361; MUJI 4.2.)

Mann was traveling 10 to 15 miles per hour. Officer Brown testified that the speed limit was 45 miles per hour and that the advisory speed limit was also 45 miles per hour. Officer Brown was provided with a statement and diagram by Fredrickson at the scene of the accident indicating that Mann had made a sudden stop. (See, Exhibit 11 and Addendum A.)

Even though he knew that there was a quick stop, Officer Brown failed to take into account the law in this matter, as he was not even aware that sudden stops were prohibited. The jury had every reason to disregard his conclusions about what caused the accident and in fact did so in its verdict for Appellees. Officer Brown was not a qualified reconstruction expert, however even if he was considered such based on his incomplete knowledge of the relevant laws concerning this accident (i.e., lack on knowledge as to the duties of a lead car) the jury was more than justified as in disregarding Officer Brown's opinion. (R. 347; MUJI 2.14.)



Just because an accident occurs does not mean that a defendant is at fault. The facts and circumstances have to be looked into. Clearly, the jury found that Mann stopped without giving a reasonable notice when she slammed on her brakes. This is in conformity with the existing law at the time of the collision, Utah Code Ann. § 41-6-69(2), which specifically prohibits a person from stopping or suddenly decreasing their speed without giving an appropriate signal to the vehicle immediately to the rear when there is an opportunity to give a signal. There was nothing to show why Mann made a sudden stop which would have justified her actions.

**B. Sufficiency As To Proximate Cause.**

**1. Mann Failed to Preserve Issue as to the Jury Verdict on Proximate Cause.**

The jury returned a verdict indicating that the Appellees' negligence was not a proximate cause of the injuries sustained by Mann. (R. 383-385.) In order for Appellees to have a no-cause in this action the jury could either find that they were not negligent or that there was no proximate cause. In the present case they found both.

Mann at no time has raised any issue regarding the sufficiency of evidence as to proximate cause. Mann did not do this in her Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, nor in her Motion for New Trial. Those motions were based strictly on the issue of liability.

There is nothing inconsistent with the jury finding both the lack of negligence and proximate cause.

A verdict must be both inconsistent and irreconcilable for the Court to overturn a jury's verdict. Holbrook v. Master Protection Corp., 883 P.2d 295 (Utah Ct. App. 1994). Furthermore, the reviewing court cannot go behind the answers of the jury to special interrogatories and analyze or speculate as to the process by which the jury arrived at them. Weber Basin v. Nelson, 358 P.2d 81 (Utah 1960). The Court is obligated to attempt to harmonize any apparent inconsistencies in the verdicts wherever possible. Holbrook, supra., at 298.

To the extent the verdict could possibly be found to be inconsistent or ambiguous, Mann waived any objection by failing to object to the verdict or move that the cause be resubmitted to the jury for clarification prior to their dismissal. See, Bennion v. LeGrand Johnson Const. Co., 701 P.2d 1078, 1083 (Utah 1985). In the present case the jury found that there was no proximate cause and that if there were any injuries it was due to Mann's own negligence. Normally the appellate courts will not review any issues raised for the first time on appeal. See, Coleman v. Stevens, 2000 Utah 98.

### **III. Mann Failed To Properly Object To Jury Instruction No. 28**

An objection to a jury instruction should be specific enough to give the trial court notice of the very error in the instruction which is complained of and an objection that lacks specificity and does not direct the court's attention to anything particular is insufficient. See Reeves v. Gentile, 813 P.2d 111 (Utah 1991); E.A. Strout v. W.C. Foy & Sons, 665 P.2d 1320 (Utah 1983); Snyderville Transp. Co. v. Christensen, 609 P.2d 939 (Utah 1980); Godesky v.

Provo City Corp., 690 P.2d 541 (Utah 1984); Employer's Mut. Liability Ins. Co. v. Allen Oil Co., 258 P.2d 445 (Utah 1953).

In the present case, while Mann generally objected to Jury Instruction No. 28, such objection lacked the legal specificity needed. Mann's improper objection to Jury Instruction No. 28 stated that it was "somewhat misleading, confusing and inappropriate to the situation that we have testimony that frankly excludes this sort of instruction." (R. 593, p. 444.)

This type of objection does not specify what specifically is incorrect about the instruction and therefore does not provide the Court sufficient notice to make an appropriate correction if such was needed. See Newsom v. Gold Cross Serv., 779 P. 2d 692 (Utah Ct. App. 1989). As a result of Mann's failure to properly object to the instruction she cannot now claim error.

#### **IV. Jury Instruction No. 28 Was A Proper Statement Of The Law**

Jury Instruction No. 28 was prepared by the trial court and is a correct statement of the law. Appellees' theory was that Mann stopped suddenly without justification and Appellees are entitled to get an instruction on their theory of the case. See Newsom, supra.

In United States v. First Sec. Bank, 28 F.2d 424 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1953), a U.S. postal vehicle was traveling about 10 to 15 miles per hour when it suddenly stopped to deliver mail. A truck behind the mail vehicle jack-knifed and an attached trailer hit an oncoming car. The truck driver testified he found it necessary to stop suddenly when he saw the mail vehicle's brake lights illuminated.

In First Security Bank, supra., the federal court interpreted the same Utah law that applies in this case that “no person shall stop or suddenly decrease the speed of a vehicle without first given an appropriate signal in the manner provided herein to the driver of any vehicle immediately to the rear when there is opportunity to give such signal.”

The court in First Security Bank, supra., held that “when two automobiles are being driven along a public highway in the same direction, each driver must exercise that degree of care which the conditions demand. No hard and fast rule as to the conduct of either can be laid down.” Id. at 429.

The court stated that the conflicting testimony on the facts was for the jury to decide. Id. at 429. The court indicated that an inference may be drawn from the testimony that the brake lights which were given were simultaneous with the sudden decrease in speed was not effective notice to the vehicle in the rear and not in compliance with the statute. Id. at 429.

Christensen v. Utah Transit Authority, 649 P.2d 42 (Utah 1982), involved a sudden stop fact pattern where the plaintiff, as he approached a red light, changed into the right-hand lane ahead of the defendant’s bus and came to a stop. The bus applied its brakes but ran into the rear of the plaintiff’s vehicle. There was a dispute in the facts as to whether or not a “quick stop” occurred. The court stated as follows:

A review of the record indicates that there is evidence of a violation of Christensen’s duty to the vehicle following. Again, Christensen erroneously assumes that there was only one conclusion to be drawn from the evidence, i.e., that “the collision was the cause by faulty brakes.” The rule is that defendants as well as plaintiffs, are entitled to instructions supporting their theory of the case.

Id. at 46.

Clearly Mann's sudden stop in the present case was a violation of Mann's duty to the Appellees' vehicle which was following her of which she was not ever aware. Jury Instruction No. 28 was an appropriate jury instruction given the circumstances of the fact pattern in this case if any error occurred it would have been harmless. See Anderson v. Toone, 671 P.2d 170, 175 (Utah 1983).

[W]hether the giving of an instruction constitutes reversible error must be determined by whether all the instructions read in harmony fairly presented to the jury in a clear and understandable way the issues of fact and applicable law.

Id. at 175 (citations omitted).

In Toone, the Utah Supreme Court indicated that even though an incorrect "assumption of the risk" instruction was given, the jury instruction must be read as a whole, and therefore there was no harmful error. Id. at 175.

In the present case, Jury Instruction No. 28 was appropriate and even if it was in error, when viewed in light of all the instructions any claimed error was harmless.

### CONCLUSION

The jury verdict as to negligence and proximate cause should be upheld. As to liability, there was more than sufficient evidence to show that Mann inappropriately made a sudden stop thereby causing the accident. Mann merely wants the Appellate Court to choose her version of how the accident occurred over Fredrickson. As to the proximate

verdict, Mann failed to preserve any issue before this Court and the verdict on proximate cause should therefore be sustained.